FACTS OF THE CASE

A. AARON JONES.

Plaintiff Aaron Jones was, at the time of the hearing before Judge Bloom, an 11 year old 7th grade student who, along with his siblings, is home-schooled by his mother, Christie Jones. Mrs.

Jones uses the A Beca curriculum promulgated by the Pennsacola Christian College. (Tr. 12.) The A Beca curriculum is different from the public school curriculum and utilizes different books. (Tr. 26-27.) Since Aaron's 4th grade year, his year-end assessment has been a standardized test; before that, there was a portfolio review of his work. (Tr. 17-18.) The standardized test that Aaron takes, Terra Nova, is different from the standardized test given to public school students, SAT-9. (Tr. 90-92.) The testers for home-schooled students taking the Terra Nova test do not have to be teachers; in fact, they don't even have to have a high school diploma. (Tr. 121.)

Aaron began to wrestle on the Mannington Middle School team in the fall of 2002, pursuant to a TRO granted by Judge Bloom. The experience was a positive one for him. (Tr. 156.) Aaron's wrestling coach, Rick Rinehart, testified that he was a fine young man, had no disciplinary problems, caused no problem with school spirit, and cost no extra money. (Tr. 156-60.) Mike Hayes, Marion County teacher, coach and activities director, gave similar testimony. He noted that some Catholic School students could join public school sports teams in Marion County, under the WVSSAC's "feeder rule." (Tr. 180.) He later explained that since Marion County does not have a Catholic high school, the Catholic middle schools are in fact "feeder" schools for the public high school. See pps. 189-91, *infra*.

B. APPELLEES' OTHER WITNESSES.

Edwina Pendarvis, PhD, testified that on a national level, home-schooled students' scores and achievements exceed those of public school students. (Tr. 54-55.) She admitted, however, that she does not know the statistics for West Virginia's home-schooled students. (Tr. 80, 87.) Dr. Pendarvis also testified that thirteen states have statutes and/or regulations "absolutely requiring" home-schooled students to be permitted to participate on public school sports teams, and that other

states permit it although there is no express statutory or regulatory authorization. (Tr. 62.) She admitted, however, that her opinions as to what other states do or do not allow in this regard is based on a single, unnamed, non-published doctoral dissertation. (Tr. 83- 85.) She also admitted that the standardized test Aaron Jones takes is different from the test that West Virginia's public school students take (Tr. 90-92), and that it's possible for a student to score at the 40th percentile on a standardized test but not earn a 2.0 GPA. (Tr. 97.)

Mary Ellen Sullivan testified that testers for the standardized test taken by home-schooled students do not have to be teachers, and in fact don't even have to have a high school diploma. (Tr. 121.)

Linda Sue Campbell, formerly a teacher, is now an independent portfolio reviewer who prepares transcripts for home-schooled students to submit to high schools and colleges. (Tr. 127-28, 133-34.)¹ There are only two or three independent portfolio reviewers in West Virginia. (Tr. 140.) Ms. Campbell initially agreed that one should have a teaching degree to do portfolio assessment (Tr. 139), but later backed off of this opinion. (Tr. 148.) She admitted that the transcript process requires a four-year involvement with the home-schooled student. (Tr. 141-42.)

Marianne Hughes is an independent court reporter who home-schooled her children. She testified that her children were in the public school marching band, but admitted that band was an academic class in which they were enrolled. (Tr. 197-98, 206.) The Hughes children also took speech and drama, and drivers' education, at the public school (Tr. 197-98), as permitted by W. Va. Code §18-8-1(c)(3).

¹Regular portfolio review under the statute, W. Va. Code §18-8-1(c)(2)(iii), requires only a certification that the child is working to his or her ability level. Regular portfolio review does not result in the assignment of any grades.

C. WVSSAC'S WITNESSES.

The WVSSAC put on the testimony of William Walton, Principal of South Charleston High School, Clinton Giles, Principal of Capitol High School, and James Vickers, Principal of George Washington High School.² Among them, these educators had many decades of experience as teachers, administrators and coaches; Mr. Walton alone was a teacher and coach for 37 years.

The principals testified that academics is more important than athletics to the mission of the schools, that the 2.0 rule for sports participation promotes better academic performance on the part of student athletes, and that the 2.0 rule acts as an academic incentive for those athletes. (Tr. 263-68, 277-82.) Mr. Giles noted that schools take the 2.0 rule so seriously that every year at Capital High, some of the very best players do not play. (Tr. 277, 282.) The principals all agreed that opening public school sports teams to home-schooled students would open the door to abuses, i.e., that some parents would take a poorly performing student out of school and home-school him or her in order to retain team eligibility. (Tr. 229, 286.) In response to queries about the possibility of "grading" home-schooled students every semester, the principals testified that this would not be a fair equivalency because there would be no uniformity in the grading. (Tr. 234.)³ Further, in response to queries about the standardized test that some home-schooled students take, the principals noted that scoring in the 40th or 50th percentile on a standardized test does not equate to earning a 2.0 average. (Tr. 214, 277-78.)

²The testimony of Mr. Giles, and particularly Mr. Vickers, was cut short by the court below, who refused to "... permit you to put the same testimony on through more than one witness." (Tr. 275, 286.)

³Additionally, it should be recalled that home-schooled students take a different curriculum and use different textbooks.

The principals agreed that team players are role models in the school, and that allowing home-schooled students to play on a public school's team would have a deleterious effect on school spirit. (Tr. 227-28, 264, 274.) Additionally, Mr. Vickers noted that home-schooled students on a public school sports team would not be subject to all the same disciplinary measures as their public school counterparts. (Tr. 288-89, 292-93.)

Finally, the principals testified that band activities are completely different from sports team participation. First and foremost, band is an academic class for which a grade, and credit, are given. (Tr. 231, 243.) Additionally, anyone can be in the band, since the 2.0 GPA average doesn't apply to participation in co-curricular activities, while participation on sports teams is limited both by the number of players allowed on a team and by the 2.0 rule. (Tr. 220-23.) Although the court below attempted to suggest that sports team participation could somehow be linked to physical education classes, Mr. Walton (and later Mike Hayden, Executive Director of the WVSSAC) explained that this just doesn't work. (Tr. 261, 303-04.)

Mike Hayden supported the evidence of the principals on all of the major points raised by their testimony (Tr. 316-22), and noted that when a proposed rule change for home-schooled students was considered by the Board of Control, which consists of the principals of every single school in the WVSSAC, it was defeated by a vote of 99-0. (Tr. 311, 354.)

Mr. Hayden then gave testimony with respect to certain WVSSAC rules on which there seemed to be some confusion.

The "feeder rules" permit 9th graders in a junior high/middle school to participate on the team of the high school which they will attend from 10th - 12th grade, assuming that their junior high/middle school does not itself have a team, since students are eligible for four years of high

school sports. (Tr. 312-13.) The rules do not permit students to play on any other school's teams, contrary to the insinuations of plaintiffs' counsel. Further, parochial junior high or middle school students can take advantage of the "feeder rules" only if (1) there is no parochial high school in the county, and (2) the parochial school is a WVSSAC member. (Tr. 189-91.)

The "co-op rules" permit two or more schools, none of which have enough students to field a team and all of which are feeder schools for the same high school, to form a joint team. The "co-op rules" apply only to eighth graders. (Tr. 313-15.)

All school activities that aren't part of a class are extracurricular, and thus subject to the 2.0 rule: sports teams, student council, drill team, drama, choir, chess club and the like. (Tr. 302-03, 205-06.) Band is different, as it is co-curricular; students who play in the band do so as part of taking a band class at the school. (Tr. 205-06, 231.) Thus, the enrollment rule and the 2.0 rule do not apply. (Tr. 299-300, 338.) No schools have what the court below termed "volunteer" bands. (Tr. 358.)

Despite the suggestion of the court below that sports team participation could be a part of a P.E. class, Mr. Hayden explained that this link-up was specifically disallowed because of the abuses that resulted. (Tr. 303-04.) Mr. Hayden also noted that the widespread assumption that all coaches are P.E. teachers is not correct, leading to a situation in the past where "... we were not following the prescribed physical education curriculum." (Tr. 304.)

Finally, WVSSAC rules apply only to schools in the WVSSAC, and, contrary to the assertion of plaintiffs' counsel, not all public schools have opted to join the WVSSAC. (Tr. 335.)

D. STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION'S AND DR. STEWART'S EVIDENCE.

The State Board of Education and Superintendent Stewart did not put on any witnesses. However, they put into evidence Dr. Stewart's answers and responses to the Appellees' discovery requests, together with the documents appended thereto.⁴

In contrast to the testimony of Dr. Pendarvis, documentation of a survey conducted by the West Virginia Department of Education, see Exhibit E to discovery requests, demonstrated that in the thirty (30) responding states, home-schooled students are not eligible to participate in extracurricular activities in twenty-one (21), are eligible to participate in six (6), and may participate at the election of the local school or district in three (3).

II.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. The court below erred as a matter of law in concluding that participation on interscholastic athletic teams is an "educational resource" within the meaning of W. Va. Code § 18-8-1(c)(3).

2. The court below erred as a matter of law in concluding that because home-schooled students may participate in band, a co-curricular activity, then there is no basis on which to prohibit their participation in athletics, an extra-curricular activity.

⁴ See "Answers and Responses of Defendant David Stewart, State Superintendent of Schools, to Plaintiffs' Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents," together with "Exhibits A Through E of Answers and Responses of Defendant David Stewart, State Superintendent of Schools, to Plaintiffs' Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents."

3. The court below impermissibly substituted its judgment for that of the Legislature in concluding that there exists no rational basis for the exclusion of home-schooled students from participating on public school sports teams.

4. The court below was clearly erroneous in its factual determination that there exists no rational basis for the exclusion of home-schooled students from participating on public school sports teams; the uncontroverted testimony of three high school principals and the Executive Director of the WVSSAC was clearly to the contrary.

5. The court below failed to give proper weight – indeed, any weight – to the policies of the West Virginia Board of Education and the legislative rules of the West Virginia Secondary Schools Activities Commission, the latter having the force and effect of law.

6. The court below imposed an impossible mandate: the creation of some system whereby the academic progress of home-schooled students who wish to participate on sports teams can be evaluated in a way that is fair to public and parochial school students, who are subject to the 2.0 rule. The testimony of the Appellees' own witness was that there are only three individuals in the state who do equivalency grading for home-schooled students, and that this process requires following the students for four years.

7. The court below failed to consider that the logic of its opinion would apply not only to home-schooled students, but also to private and parochial school students whose schools do not field a team.

III.

ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT BELOW ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN CONCLUDING THAT PARTICIPATION ON INTERSCHOLASTIC ATHLETIC TEAMS IS AN “EDUCATIONAL RESOURCE” WITHIN THE MEANING OF W. VA. CODE §18-8-1(C)(3).

Although the court below acknowledged the holding of Bailey v. Truby, 174 W. Va. 8, 321 S.E.2d 318 (1984), that participation in interscholastic sports is not a constitutional right, he overruled the case *sub silentio* by finding sports to be an “educational resource” within the meaning of W. Va. Code §18-8-1(c)(3).

The court’s interpretation of §18-8-1(c)(3) is not consistent with the statutory language, which provides:

The superintendent or a designee shall offer such assistance, including *textbooks, other teaching materials and available resources*, as may assist the person or persons providing home instruction subject to their availability. Any child receiving home instruction may, upon approval of the county board of education, exercise the option to *attend any class* offered by the county board of education as the person or persons providing home instruction may deem appropriate subject to normal registration and attendance requirements.

(Emphasis supplied.)

It is readily apparent that this statute deals with academics and co-curricular activities; not extracurricular activities; to read it any other way would render all of the qualifying language superfluous. If a wrestling team is an “educational resource,” so is every class, club, instrumental or vocal group, drama production, field trip, sports team, pep rally, or any other educational or developmental experience whatsoever.

The court ignored the uncontroverted evidence, set forth in the statement of facts above, that co-curricular activities, i.e., band, are part of a *class* that all participants, including home-schooled students, must attend. Despite the court's heroic attempts, through his questioning of the witnesses, to establish the notion of "independent bands," the testimony established that there's no such thing. Further, despite the court's attempts, again through his questioning of the witnesses, to suggest that sports could somehow be co-curricular with P.E. classes, the testimony established the impossibility of doing this.

In formulating its expansive interpretation of W. Va. Code §18-8-1(c)(3), the court below ignored and discounted the contrary, and longstanding, interpretation of the agencies specifically charged with enforcing the statute. See, e.g., West Virginia Health Care Cost Review Auth. v. Boone Mem'l Hosp., 196 W. Va. 326, 335, 472 S.E.2d 411, 420 (1996) ("An agency's interpretation of a statutory provision or regulation it is charged with administering is entitled to a high degree of deference. Courts must, however, reject administrative orders and rules that are contrary to legislative intent."). In this case, the interpretation of the Appellants is contained not only in State Board Policies 2510, § 5.18 and 2436.10, but also in WVSSAC Legislative Rules 127-2-3.1, 127-2-3.2, 127-2-3.5, 127-2-6.1 and 127-2-6.9. This Court recently clarified whatever uncertainty may have existed with respect to the force and effect of legislative rules. Syl. Pt. 5, Smith v. UPS, No. 31645, 2004 WL 1489057 (W. Va. July 3, 2004): "A regulation that is proposed by an agency and approved by the Legislature is a 'legislative rule' as defined by the State Administrative Procedures Act, W. Va. Code, 29A-1-2(d)[1982], and such a legislative rule has the *force and effect of law.*" (Emphasis supplied.)

The court below also failed to consider or address the necessary extension of its logic to *all* non-public school students, since there is no principled way to distinguish between them with respect to their entitlement to “educational resources.” Here, if the Mannington Middle School wrestling team is an “educational resource” that must be available to home-schooled students residing within the geographical area served by the school, how can team participation be denied to any private or parochial school students residing in the same area, whose schools do not field a team? If a wrestling team is an “educational resource,” how could we say that a football team is not? If Capital High School in Charleston is required to open its football team to home-schooled students, how could we deny this “educational resource” to students at Charleston Catholic, which doesn’t have a team?

By interpreting W. Va. Code §18-8-1(c)(3) in a manner that would “finesse” the holding of Bailey v. Truby, the court below substituted his judgment for that of this Court, the Legislature,⁵ and all of the institutional Appellants. He simply made policy decisions and, in so doing, far exceeded the scope of his judicial authority.

B. THE COURT BELOW ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN CONCLUDING THAT BECAUSE HOME-SCHOOLED STUDENTS MAY PARTICIPATE IN BAND, A CO-CURRICULAR ACTIVITY, THEN THERE IS NO BASIS ON WHICH TO PROHIBIT THEIR PARTICIPATION IN ATHLETICS, AN EXTRA-CURRICULAR ACTIVITY.

A review of the transcript, as well as the court’s memorandum opinion, demonstrates that home-schooled students’ eligibility to play in school bands was the key to the court’s decision. Simply put, the court couldn’t see the difference between playing in a band and playing on a sports

⁵The evidence established that attempts to secure a “legislative fix” have been completely unavailing.

team, despite the fact that the uncontradicted evidence showed the differences to be real and substantial.

a. Under Board Policy 2510, § 5.18, band activities are co-curricular while athletics are extracurricular.

b. Co-curricular activities are part of a class, i.e., students playing in the band must be enrolled in band class.

c. In contrast, extra-curricular activities, including sports, are just that: extra. They are not part of any class.

d. Co-curricular activities are not subject to the 2.0 rule, since they are part of a school's academic program.

e. In contrast, all extracurricular activities are subject to the 2.0 rule.

In this case, the court just ignored these distinctions and, in so doing, again ignored the teaching of Bailey v. Truby, *supra*. And again, the court failed to consider the far-reaching implications of his decision; if we're going to ignore the co- or extra-curricular nature of activities, then there can be no principled basis for denying home-schooled students the right to run for student council in a school they don't even attend.

C. THE COURT BELOW IMPERMISSIBLY SUBSTITUTED ITS JUDGMENT FOR THAT OF THE LEGISLATURE IN CONCLUDING THAT THERE EXISTS NO RATIONAL BASIS FOR THE EXCLUSION OF HOME-SCHOOLED STUDENTS FROM PARTICIPATING ON PUBLIC SCHOOL SPORTS TEAMS.

The decision of the court below flows naturally from his statutory interpretation: if a wrestling team is an "educational resource," then it cannot be denied to a class of students unless the State can demonstrate a rational basis for its decision.

In this regard, this Court has held that public and nonpublic students are not similarly situated for purposes of equal protection analysis. Janasiewicz v. Bd. of Educ. of the County of Kanawha, 171 W. Va. 423, 299 S.E.2d 34 (1982). In the proceedings below the Appellees contended that the two classes in Janasiewicz were public school and parochial school children, thus leaving the door open for home schooled children to be treated as a distinct, separate class. To the contrary, the question posed in Janasiewicz was: "Must *nonpublic* students be bussed?", 171 W. Va. at 426, 299 S.E.2d at 37, and Syllabus Point 2 of the opinion provides that "[t]he Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment is not violated by treating public and *nonpublic* school children differently in allocations of state aid and educationally related resources." (Emphasis supplied in both quotations.) See also State ex rel. Cooper v. Bd. of Educ., 197 W. Va. 669, 478 S.E.2d 341 (1996), Syllabus Point 3. In both Janasiewicz and Cooper, the basis for finding that the parochial school plaintiffs were not similarly situated with public school students was that the former "... ha[ve] chosen to reject a free public school education in favor of privately paid education . . .," a rationale that applies equally to home schooled children, who have chosen to reject a free public school education in favor of instruction in the home.

Applying the rational basis test, it is clear that WVSSAC Rule 127-2-3.1 serves important governmental interests, all of which were rejected by the court below.

1. The Promotion of Academics Over Athletics.

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