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

## ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND APPELLANTS' POLICIES DENYING HOME SCHOoled STUDENTS ANY OPPORTUNITY TO PARTICIPATE IN INTERSCHOLASTIC ATHLETICS DENIED THEM ACCESS TO AN AVAILABLE EDUCATIONAL RESOURCE IN VIOLATION OF W. VA. CODE § 18-8-1(c)(3).

A. EVERY CHILD IN WEST VIRGINIA ENJOYS AN EQUAL ENTITLEMENT TO THE BEST EDUCATION WE CAN REASONABLY PROVIDE.

The purpose behind West Virginia's education laws and system of free schools is to "assure that *all of our children have every opportunity* to secure an education which is thorough and is provided in an efficient manner." W. Va. Code § 18-1-4(a) (2003 Replacement Vol.) (emphasis added). A fundamental goal of our system is that "[a]ll students will have equal education opportunity." W. Va. Code § 18-1-4(b)(2).

In its own regulations the Department of Education acknowledges:

Ensuring a quality education implies that a thorough and efficient education system exists that provides equal access to substantive curricular offerings and appropriate related services for all students. Providing such an education system must be the goal of the West Virginia Legislature; West Virginia Board of Education; West Virginia Department of Education; county boards of education; and the people of West Virginia. This policy provides the basic structure for all education programs and student support services necessary for a thorough and efficient system of education to be available to all students.

WVCSR § 126-42-3.2.

In *Bailey v. Truby*, 174 W. Va. 8, 321 S.E.2d 302 (1984) this Court held:

The State Board of Education, charged with the general supervision of our state's educational system, has a duty to ensure that the constitutionally mandated educational goals of quality and equality are achieved.

174 W. Va. at 16, 321 S.E.2d at 310.

In keeping with the above, it is not surprising this Court recognized in *Gallery v.*

*WVSSAC*, 205 W. Va. 364, 518 S.E.2d 368 (1999):

[A] reading of W. Va. Code, 18-8-1 (1995) and 18-2-25 (1967) compels the conclusion that all of the participants in the educational endeavors of our state are involved in a complementary effort to further the goal that every one of our state's children—whether in parochial, private, public, home-based, or other educational programs—has access to the richest possible menu of educational and developmental experiences.

205 W. Va. at 367-68, 518 S.E.2d at 371-72.

B. HOME SCHOOLING IS A STATE SANCTIONED, SUPERVISED AND SUPPORTED PUBLIC EDUCATION ALTERNATIVE TO THE TRADITIONAL CLASSROOM.

West Virginia requires every child to attend school from ages 6 to 16. W. Va. Code § 18-8-1(a). West Virginia permits parents to satisfy the truancy laws by home schooling their children as an alternative to the traditional public school classroom. W. Va. Code § 18-8-1(c).

While being home schooled a child remains under the supervision of county school officials. Parents must provide the county superintendent or board of education with a notice of intent to home school, a plan of instruction, and an annual academic assessment of the child's progress. W. Va. Code § 18-8-1(c)(2). The county superintendent may seek a court order prohibiting home schooling upon a finding of educational neglect or other compelling reasons.

*Id.*

In *State v. Riddle*, 168 W. Va. 429, 285 S.E.2d 359 (1981), this Court upheld the constitutionality of the home schooling statute, in part, based upon the State's interest in "having all children between ages of 7 and 16 somewhere within the supervision of the county boards of education." 168 W. Va. at 439, 285 S.E.2d at 364.

In keeping with its stated goals of affording all children every opportunity to secure an appropriate education, the Legislature appears to have envisioned home schooling as a partnership between the home schooling parents and local school officials when it enacted the

home schooling statute which provides:

The county superintendent or a designee shall offer such assistance, including textbooks, other teaching materials and available resources, as may assist the person or persons providing home instruction, subject to their availability. Any child receiving home instruction may upon approval of the county board exercise the option to attend any class offered by the county board as the person or persons providing home instruction may consider appropriate subject to normal registration and attendance requirements.

W. Va. Code § 18-8-1(c)(3).

C. INTERSCHOLASTIC ATHLETICS ARE A VALUABLE COMPONENT OF A THOROUGH AND EFFICIENT EDUCATION.

Every child in West Virginia has a fundamental right to a thorough and efficient education pursuant to Article XII, Section 1 of the West Virginia Constitution. In defining a thorough and efficient education this Court recognized in *Pauley v. Kelly*, 162 W. Va. 672, 255 S.E.2d 859 (1979) that such an education “develops, as best the state of education allows, the minds, bodies and social morality of its charges to prepare them for useful and happy occupations, recreation and citizenship ....” 162 W. Va. at 705, 255 S.E.2d at 877.

In discussing the role played by athletics in education this Court noted in *Glover v. Simms*, 121 W. Va. 407, 3 S.E.2d 612 (1939):

The physical welfare of young men and women cannot with propriety be ignored. Education is a proper function of state government and includes appropriate physical development as well as mental and moral.

121 W. Va. at 411, 3 S.E.2d at 614.

The West Virginia Attorney General has offered the opinion that:

We believe that the physical education and training of school children of elementary and high school grades, including physical or gymnastic exercises, physical games, sports, and other similar co-curricular activities, form a proper part of a public school program. We are also inclined to adopt the view that extracurricular athletics and band activities are now generally recognized as a proper integral part of a contemporary educational program.

of the public schools. By Code § 18-2-25, the Legislature has officially sanctioned, as an element of the educational process, "interscholastic athletic events and other extracurricular activities" of the students in the public, private and parochial secondary schools of the State.

Opinion of the West Virginia Attorney General, January 7, 1980, at 17-18.

Everyone involved in the present case agrees that athletics serve a valuable role in the education of our state's children. See Testimony of Mike Hayden, Director WVSSAC, Tr. at 331-334, R. at 844-847. The National Federation of State High School Associations and its membership, which includes the WVSSAC, has stated:

The National Federation of State High School Associations and its membership believe that interscholastic sports and fine arts activities promote citizenship and sportsmanship. They instill a sense of pride in community, teach lifelong lessons of teamwork and self-discipline and facilitate the physical and emotional development of our nation's youth .... They are not a diversion but rather an extension of a good educational program .... [Such] programs provide valuable lessons for practical situations—teamwork, sportsmanship, winning, losing, and hard work. Through participation in activity programs, students learn self-discipline, build qualities the public expects schools to produce in students so that they become responsible adults and productive citizens.

National Federation of State High School Associations, *The Case for High School Activities*, Plaintiffs' Exhibit 5 at pp.1-2, R. at 251-52.

Finally, it is worth noting that interscholastic athletics are funded, at least in part, with public funds provided by the tax payers of West Virginia, which include home schooling families. If interscholastic athletics are not a valuable component of our state's education system, why are we using scarce education dollars to support them?

- D. BY DENYING HOME SCHOOLED STUDENTS ANY OPPORTUNITY TO PARTICIPATE IN INTERSCHOLASTIC ATHLETICS, APPELLANTS ARE UNREASONABLY WITHHOLDING AN AVAILABLE EDUCATION RESOURCE IN VIOLATION OF W. VA. CODE § 18-8-1(c)(3).

Appellees' claim under W. Va. Code § 18-8-1(c)(3) is premised upon the following:

1. The opportunity to participate in interscholastic athletics represents an educational resource that would assist home schooling parents in securing a quality education for their children.
2. There are no remotely comparable opportunities available whereby home schooled students might secure the educational opportunities and benefits offered by interscholastic athletics.
3. Appellants are denying home schooled students access to an education resource that already exists, that was paid for by the citizens of this state, including home schooling parents, and that easily could accommodate home schooled students.

No one can seriously dispute the educational benefits that interscholastic athletics represent for children, including home schooled students. While athletics may not be as important in the educational scheme as a math class or some other curricular or co-curricular activity, participation on an athletic team still represents a valuable educational opportunity.

Appellants can't have it both ways. On one hand they recognize sports are an integral part of education and extol the many virtues of having sports as part of an education program. On the other hand they urge this Court to find that sports programs do not represent an educational resource or something that would assist a home schooling parent in achieving the best education possible for his or her child. Those two positions are diametrically opposed.

No one in the present case has ever contended there are other opportunities available to home schooled students comparable to interscholastic athletics. Given their limited numbers and resources, it simply is unrealistic to believe that home schooled students could field their own athletic teams.

Nor is there any reason to believe it would be difficult for Appellants to incorporate home schooled students into their athletic teams. Home schooled students represent less than two percent (2%) of school-aged children in West Virginia. *See* Plaintiffs' Exhibits 13 & 14, R. at

pp. 299-315. As Mike Hayden, the Executive Director of the WVSSAC, stated in a recent newspaper article, "When push comes to shove, there won't be that many kids who will choose to play." Dave Hickman, *Home-School Decision Won't Have Major Impact*, Charleston Gazette, June 3, 2004, at 1B.

Other states permit home schooled students to participate on public school teams.<sup>25</sup>

25

<b>States Allowing Participation by Statute</b>	<b>Citation</b>
Arizona	Arizona Revised Statutes Anno. § 15-802.01
Colorado	Colorado Revised Statutes Anno. § 22-33-104.5(6)
Florida	Florida Statutes Anno. § 232.425
Idaho	Idaho Code § 33-203
Iowa	Iowa Code Anno. §§ 256.46, 299A
Maine	Maine Revised Statutes Anno. Tit. 20-A, § 5021
Minnesota	Minnesota Statutes Anno. 123B.49, Subd. 4(a)
New Hampshire	New Hampshire Revised Statutes § 193A:2(II)
North Dakota	North Dakota Century Code § 15.1-23-16
Oregon	Oregon Revised Statutes § 339.460
South Dakota	South Dakota Codified Laws § 13-36-7
Vermont	Vermont Statutes Anno. 16 § 563(24)
Washington	Washington Revised Code § 28A.150.350
<b>States Allowing Participation by Rule</b>	<b>Citation</b>
Massachusetts	MIAA Handbook Rule 54
Nevada	NIAA G.2070
Pennsylvania	PIAA Handbook, Art. III, § 7
Rhode Island	RIIL Rule 3.1.I
Utah	State Board of Education Reg. R277-438-4
Wyoming	WHSAA Rules 2.6.4, 3.1.3, 6.2.91

If those states can incorporate home schooled students into their public school athletic programs, there is simply no reason to believe that West Virginia could not do the same.

Appellants urge this Court to interpret W. Va. Code § 18-8-1(c)(3) in a restrictive fashion. WVSSAC Brief at 12-14. But the statute speaks in terms of an obligation to provide “such assistance ... as may assist the person or persons providing home instruction, subject to their availability.” The only limiting factor contemplated by the Legislature appears to be “availability.” Moreover, the language “*including* textbooks, other teaching materials and available resources” (*emphasis added*), on its face, does not purport to be an exclusive list.

A restrictive interpretation also would fly in the face of the guiding principles that every West Virginia child will have every opportunity to secure a thorough and efficient education and educational opportunities will be equally available to all our children. W. Va. Code § 18-1-4.

Appellants also urge this Court to reject the Circuit Court’s holding under W. Va. Code § 18-8-1(c)(3) because the lower court’s decision is inconsistent with this Court’s decision in *Bailey v. Truby*, 174 W. Va. 8, 321 S.E.2d 302 (1984). State Board of Education Brief at 9. *Bailey* stands for the proposition that the State Board of Education may enact academic standards for athletic participation in order to promote the goal of academic excellence. 174 W. Va. at 18, 321 S.E.2d at 313. But as discussed later in this brief, a policy that denies home schooled students any opportunity to participate without regard for their academic performance does not promote that goal.

Finally, Appellants raise the concern that the lower court’s interpretation of W. Va. Code § 18-8-1(c)(3) will open the floodgates to similar claims by private school students. State Board

---

of Education Brief at 11. That argument ignores the fact that W. Va. Code § 18-8-1(c)(3), which simply sets out school officials' obligation to home schooled students, has nothing to do with private schools.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND APPELLANTS' POLICIES DENYING HOME SCHOOLED STUDENTS ANY OPPORTUNITY TO PARTICIPATE IN INTERSCHOLASTIC ATHLETICS WITHOUT REGARD FOR THEIR ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE OR OTHER CONDUCT VIOLATED APPELLANTS' OBLIGATION TO PROMULGATE REASONABLE RULES AND REGULATIONS.

The Circuit Court found:

[T]he defendants have breached the duty to promulgate reasonable rules and regulations by implementing a total ban rather than crafting fair rules tailored to any legitimate concerns that may flow from allowing home schooled students, who are otherwise qualified, to participate on sports teams fielded by the public school they would be attending if they were not home schooled.

Circuit Court Decision and Final Order at 24.

No one has ever disputed in the present case that the WVSSAC and the State Board of Education may promulgate reasonable rules related to a student's participation in interscholastic athletics. They are free to condition participation upon academic standards, residency requirements or other rules governing a student's conduct while participating on athletic teams. What makes Appellants' policies problematic in the present case is their total exclusion of a group of students based solely upon their home schooled status without regard to their academic performance, residency, or conduct. A home schooled child may, by any measure, be excelling academically, have lived his or her entire life in a school's service area, and be the most well-behaved child imaginable, and still have no opportunity to participate on an athletic team. That is unreasonable.

A. APPELLANTS' RULES AND REGULATIONS GOVERNING STUDENTS' PARTICIPATION IN INTERSCHOLASTIC ATHLETICS MUST BE REASONABLE.

The West Virginia Secondary School Activities Commission has been delegated authority regarding the control, supervision and regulation of interscholastic athletics pursuant to West Virginia Code § 18-2-25. In *Hamilton v. Secondary Schools Activities Commission*, 182 W. Va. 158, 386 S.E.2d 656 (1989) this Court held the rules and regulations promulgated by the WVSSAC must be reasonable. 182 W. Va. at 159 at N. 2, 386 S.E.2d at 657 at N. 2.

In exercising control, supervision and regulation over interscholastic athletics, county boards of education and the WVSSAC are subject to the ultimate authority of the West Virginia Board of Education. *State ex re. Lambert v. West Virginia State Board of Education*, 191 W. Va. 700, 709, 447 S.E.2d 901, 910 (1994); *Bailey v. Truby*, 174 W. Va. 8, 18, 321 S.E.2d 302, 312 (1984). In exercising its authority over interscholastic athletic events, the State Board of Education, like any public agency, has a duty to promulgate regulations that are not arbitrary or unreasonable. *Bailey, supra*, 174 W. Va. at 13, 321 S.E.2d at 308. *See also State ex rel White v. Parsons*, 199 W. Va. 1, 9, 483 S.E.2d 1, 9 (1996).

Any public body is limited by principles of fundamental fairness. *Parsons, supra*, 199 W. Va. at 8, 483 S.E.2d at 8. When specific parties are particularly affected by a proposed rule, fair play and administrative due process dictate that an agency must conscientiously concern itself with and make reasonable efforts to accommodate the rights and interest of the affected individual and genuinely account for the individualized effect of its proposed action. *Id* at 9, 483 S.E.2d at 9.

Appellant do not dispute they have an obligation to promulgate reasonable rules and

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